

I need not pause to say how very delighted I am to be here this evening and to be a part of this auspicious occasion.

ADDRESS OF THE REVEREND DR. MARTIN LUTHER KING, JR.  
New York State Civil War Centennial Commission - Park Sheraton  
Hotel, New York City - Wednesday Evening, September 12, 1962

Mankind through the ages has been in a ceaseless struggle to give dignity and meaning to human life. It is that quest which <sup>distinguishes man</sup> separates it from the <sup>lower</sup> animals, whose biological functions and anatomical features resemble aspects of the human specie.

Not used

Start: If our nation had done nothing more in its whole history than to create just two documents, its contribution to civilization would be imperishable. The first of these documents is the Declaration of Independence and the other is that which we are here <sup>today</sup> to honor <sup>today,</sup> the Emancipation Proclamation. All tyrants, past, present and future, are powerless to bury the truths in these declarations, no matter how extensive their legions, how vast their power and how malignant their evil.

The Declaration of Independence proclaimed to a world, organized politically and spiritually around the concept of the inequality of man, that the liberty and dignity of human personality were inherent in man as a living being, that he, himself, could not create a society which could last if it alienated freedom from man. The Emancipation Proclamation was the offspring of the Declaration of Independence, <sup>It was a constructive use of the force</sup> using the forces of law to uproot a social order which sought to separate liberty from a segment of humanity. The principle of equality on which the nation was founded had to be



reaffirmed in the flames of a scorching war until rededication to liberty was once again recorded in the Emancipation Proclamation.

Our pride and our progress could be unqualified if the story might end here. But history reveals that <sup>America has been a</sup> ~~these~~ <sup>? phrasic personality when these two documents are concerned</sup> documents were each to live lives of stormy contradictions, to <sup>On the one hand she has</sup> proudly professed the basic principles inherent in both documents. <sup>On the other hand</sup> to be both observed and violated through social upheavals and <sup>she has sadly practiced the antithesis of these principles</sup> spiritual disasters.

If we look at our history with honesty and clarity we will be forced to admit that our Federal form of government has been, from the day of its birth, weakened in its integrity, confused and confounded in its direction, by the unresolved race question. ~~It is as if a political thalidomide drug~~ taken during pregnancy caused the birth of a crippled nation.

We seldom take note or give adequate significance to the fact that Thomas Jefferson's text of the Declaration of Independence was revised by the Continental Congress to eliminate a justifiable attack on King George for encouraging slave trade. <sup>changed</sup> ~~It was expunged lest it offend the southern~~ ~~representatives, just as today, still, legislation is~~ ~~discarded or emasculated lest it, too, give offense to~~ ~~southern representatives.~~ Jefferson knew that such compromises with principle struck at the heart of the nation's security and integrity. In 1820, 6 years before his death, he wrote these melancholy words,



"But this momentous question (slavery), like a fire bell in the night awakened ~~me~~ and filled me with terror. I considered it at once as the knell of the Union. I regret that I am now to die in the belief that the useless sacrifice of themselves by the generation of 1776 to acquire self-government and happiness to their country is to be thrown away, and my only consolation is to be that I live not to weep over it."

~~Our nation has experienced a ceaseless rebellion against the Declaration of Independence, the Constitution, the Emancipation Proclamation and the Supreme Court by one region. In the Revolutionary War powerful slave elements in the south fought with the British. The development of the nation to the west was complicated and hindered by the slave power, and only the holocaust of war settled the direction and character of our growth. But the rebellion against equality continued into the second half of the 19th century and into the 20th century, diminishing the authority of the Federal government and corroding its authority. It has contaminated every institution in our society in every year of our existence. Still Today that single region of our country still holds a veto power over the majority of the nation, nullifying basic constitutional rights, and in the exercise of its illegal conduct, retarding our growth. The south in walling itself off from the application of laws and judicial decrees behind an iron curtain of defiance, becomes a law unto itself. It is an autonomous region whose posture~~



toward the central government has elements as defiant as a hostile nation. Only the undeveloped or primitive nations of the world tolerate regions which are similar, in which feudal autocrats or military governors have supremacy over the Federal power. It is a condition unknown to modern industrial societies except for our own. This is the source of the scorn expressed by African and Asian states when we lecture them on government while our own suffers from a glaring defect of sovereignty.

The unresolved race question is a pathological infection in our social and political anatomy, which has sickened us throughout our history, *and is still largely today a largely untreated disease.*

How has our social health been injured by this condition? The legacy is the impairment of the lives of nearly 20,000,000 of our citizens. Based solely on their color, they have been condemned to a sub-existence, never sharing the fruits of progress equally. The average income of Negroes is approximately \$3300 per family annually against \$5800 for white citizens. This differential tells only part of the story however, tragic though it is, standing by itself. The more terrible aspect is found in the inner structure and quality of the Negro community. It is a community artificially but effectively separated from the dominant culture of our society. It has a pathetically small, grotesquely distorted, middle class. There are virtually no Negro bankers, no



<sup>few</sup> industrialists, ~~no commercial enterprises~~ worthy of the name of businesses, ~~Its high income stratum are more often~~ entertainers, ~~boxers and gamblers than professionals, artists~~ or figures in commerce and industry. The overwhelming majority <sup>of Negroes</sup> are domestics, laborers, and always the largest segment of the unemployed. If employment entails heavy work, if the wages are miserable, if the filth is revolting, the job belongs to the Negro.

Every Negro knows these truths and his personality is corroded by a sense of inferiority, generated by this degraded status. Negroes, north and south, still live in segregation, housed in slums, eat in segregation, pray in segregation and die in segregation. The life experience of the Negro in integration remains an exception even in the north.

The imposition of inferiority externally and internally are the slave chains of today. What the Emancipation Proclamation proscribed in a legal and formal sense has never been eliminated in human terms. By burning in the consciousness of white Americans a conviction that Negroes are by nature subnormal, much of the myth was absorbed by the Negro himself, stultifying his energy, his ambition and his self-respect. The Proclamation of Inferiority has contended with the Proclamation of Emancipation, negating its liberating force. Inferiority has justified the low living standards of the Negro, sanctioned his separation from the majority culture, and enslaved him physically and psychologically. Inferiority



as a fetter is more subtle and sophisticated than iron chains; it is invisible and its victim helps to fashion his own bonds.

Inequality before the law is so pervasive in the life of the Negro <sup>that</sup> its detailing is impossible. We boast that ours is a government of laws, but every Negro knows a thousand examples in which law and government do not protect him. In the past <sup>three</sup> <sup>three</sup> weeks Christian churches <sup>have been</sup> ~~were bombed~~ or burned in a single community in Georgia. If a government building were bombed in Washington the perpetrators would be <sup>apprehended</sup> ~~shot~~ <sup>immediately</sup> down in the streets. But if violence affects a Negro church, not all the agencies of government can find or convict the arsonists.

This is the essential texture of freedom and equality for the Negro one hundred years after the Emancipation Proclamation; and one hundred and eighty-six years after the Declaration of Independence.

~~This~~ <sup>The</sup> ~~sombre picture may induce the sober thought~~ <sup>of the condition of the American Negro today</sup> that there is nothing to commemorate about the centennial of the Emancipation Proclamation. But tragic disappointments and undeserved defeats do not put an end to life, nor do they wipe out the positive, however submerged it may have become beneath floods of negative experience.

The Emancipation Proclamation had four enduring results. First, it gave force to the executive power to change conditions



in the national interest on a broad and far-reaching scale. Second, it dealt a devastating blow to a system of slave-holding and an economy <sup>built</sup> based upon it, which had been muscular enough to engage in warfare on the Federal government. ~~It~~ forced a change in which the area of maneuver ~~enemies of the~~ Constitution might deploy, was limited. Third, it enabled the Negro to play a significant role in his own liberation with the ability to organize and to struggle, with less of the bestial retaliation his slave status had permitted to his masters. Fourth, it resurrected and restated the principle of equality upon which the founding of the nation rested.

When Abraham Lincoln signed the Emancipation Proclamation it was not the act of an opportunistic politician issuing a hollow pronouncement to placate a pressure group.

Our truly great presidents were tortured deep in their hearts by the race question. Jefferson with keen perception saw that the <sup>festering sore of slavery</sup> immorality of <sup>debilitated white masters as well as the Negro.</sup> slavery degraded the <sup>white</sup> write master with the Negro. He feared for the future of white children who were taught a false supremacy. His concern can be summed up in one quotation, "I tremble for my country when I reflect that God is just."

Lincoln's torments are well known, his vacillations were facts. In the seething cauldron of '62 and '63 Lincoln was called the "Baboon President" in the North, and "coward", assassin, <sup>and</sup> savage, murderer of women and babies, and Lincoln the <sup>murderer</sup> Fiend in the South. Yet he searched his way to the



conclusions embodied in these words, "In giving freedom to the slave we assure freedom to the free, honorable alike in what we give and what we preserve." On this moral foundation he personally prepared the first draft of the Emancipation Proclamation, and to emphasize the decisiveness of his course he called his cabinet together and declared he was not seeking their advice as to its wisdom but only suggestions on subject matter. Lincoln achieved immortality because he issued the Emancipation Proclamation. His hesitation had not stayed his hand when historic necessity charted but one course. No President can be great, or even fit for office, if he attempts to accommodate to injustice to maintain his political balance.

The Emancipation Proclamation shattered in one blow the slave system, undermining the foundations of the economy of the rebellious south; and guaranteed that no slave-holding class, if permitted to exist in defeat, could prepare a new and deadlier war after resuscitation.

The Proclamation opened the door to self-liberation by the Negro upon which he immediately acted by deserting the plantations in the south and joining the Union armies in the north. Henry Wadsworth Longfellow, seeing a regiment of Negroes march through Beacon Street in Boston, wrote in his diary, "An imposing sight, with something wild and strange about it, like a dream. At last the North consents to let the Negro fight for freedom." Beyond the war years the grim and tortured struggle of Negroes to win their own freedom is

This part  
missing from  
tape due to  
changing  
of the reels.

Start of  
Side #2  
of Tape



an epic of battle against frightful odds. If we have failed to do enough, it was not the will for freedom that was weak, but the forces against us which were too strong.

~~It is significant in this connection that all of our efforts from the Reconstruction onward to this morning's daily paper, the reporting and historical interpretation of our actions suffer the grossest corruption of truth. American historiography itself has been a victim of the unresolved race question and is yet to be purged of error if it is to be scientific history.~~

~~The world significance of the Emancipation Proclamation was colorfully described by another great American, Frederick Douglass, in these words,~~

~~"It recognizes and declares the real nature of the contest and places the North on the side of justice and civilization, and the rebels on the side of robbery and barbarism...Unquestionably the first of January, 1963, is to be the most memorable day in American Annals, the Fourth of July was great, but the First of January, when we consider it in all its relations and bearings, is incomparably greater. The one had respect to the more political birth of a nation; the last concerns the national life and character and is to determine whether that life and character shall be radiantly glorious with all high and noble virtues, or infamously blackened forevermore."~~

We have spelled out a balance sheet of the Emancipation Proclamation, its contributions and its deficiencies which our lack of zeal permitted to find expression.



There is but one way to commemorate the Emancipation Proclamation. That is to make its declaration of freedom real; to reach back to the origins of our nation when our message of equality electrified an unfree world, and reaffirm democracy by deeds as bold and daring as the issuance of the Emancipation Proclamation.

We do not have as much time as the cautious and the patient try to give us. We are not only living in a time of cataclysmic change - we live in an era in which human rights is the central world issue. <sup>The shape of the world today does not afford us the luxury of an</sup> A totally new political <sup>phenomenon</sup> phenomenon has arisen from the rubble and destruction of World War II. A neutralist sector has established itself between the two contending camps of the world. More than a billion people are in the neutralist arena and it is growing everywhere even in the western hemisphere covering territory larger than our own national boundaries. These nations are neutral because they do not trust the integrity of East or West on the issue of equality and human rights. Our declarations that we are making progress in race relations ring with pathetic emptiness in their ears. In India, Indonesia, Ghana and Brazil, to mention but a few, states which contain almost a billion humans, the right to vote has been exercised even by illiterate peasants in primitive villages still <sup>surrounded</sup> ringed by jungle. In our glittering cities in the south, college professors cannot vote, cannot eat and cannot use a library or a park in equality.

NOT  
USED

Not used

democracy



In Africa, Negroes have formed states, govern themselves and function in world tribunals with dignity and effectiveness. The simple fact is that the relative progress in undeveloped sectors of the world in human rights races at jet <sup>like</sup> speed, while we strain in a horse and buggy for advancement. We are not moving in the world tempo of change. Worse still, as the earth shrinks, through communication revolutions, and the shame of Little Rock, Ark., and Albany, Georgia flashes around the globe, the world is becoming more aware of our deficiencies. Floods of consumer goods, super-highways, super-markets and telestars do not obscure the existence of <sup>racial discrimination</sup> ~~extreme prejudice~~; and this fact more than any other explains why more emerging nations move away from us than toward us. The touchstone is not the sophistication of our industrial devices, but our commitment to freedom and equality. Without faith that we are wedded to these truths, our power and strength become a menace to other peoples and they will maintain their distance until we have justified their confidence.

The Negro will never cease his struggle to commemorate the Emancipation Proclamation by making his emancipation real. If enough Americans in numbers and influence join him, the nation we both labored to build may yet realize its glorious dream.

There is too much greatness in our heritage to tolerate the pettiness of race hate. The Declaration of Independence and the Emancipation Proclamation deserve to

INSURE

While witnessing the damage that racial injustice does to our huge <sup>country</sup> abroad, there is a more basic reason for grappling with this problem. In the final analysis we must not seek to solve this problem merely to face a Communist challenge. We must not seek to do it merely to appeal to Asian and African peoples. In the final analysis, racial injustice must be uprooted from American society, because it is morally wrong. It must be uprooted because it stands against all of the noble precepts of our Hebrew-Christian heritage. It must be done because segregation substitutes ~~man~~ an I-it relationship for ~~man~~ the I-thou relationship, and relegates persons to the status of things. <sup>there</sup> ~~And so~~ <sup>there</sup> is a great moral challenge at this hour. It must be done not merely because it is diplomatically expedient, but because it is morally compelling.



live in sacred honor; many generations of Americans suffered, bled and died, confident that those who followed them would preserve the purity of our ideals. Negroes have declared they will die if need be for these freedoms, and many have, even in months just past. All Americans must enlist in a crusade finally to make the race question an ugly relic of a dark past. When that day dawns, the When the whole scope of American liberties encompasses this freedom, then will the Emancipation Proclamation truly be commemorated in luminous glory, and truth.

will

I would like to close with some words from William Lloyd Garrison with which I associate myself.

"I am aware that many object to the severity of my language; but is there no cause for severity? I will be as harsh as truth, and as uncompromising as justice. On this subject I do not wish to think or speak or write with moderation. No, no! Tell a man whose house is on fire to give a moderate alarm; tell him to moderately rescue his wife from the hands of the ravisher; tell the mother to gradually extricate her babe from the fire into which it has fallen; but urge me not to use moderation in a cause like the present."

(MORE)



We are at one of history's awesome crossroads. Our technological creativity is almost boundless. We can build machines that think. We can dot the landscape with houses and super-highways teeming with cars. We can now even destroy our whole planet with nuclear weapons we alone possess. We have <sup>wrought</sup> ~~bravely~~ distance and place time and change ??? (MUDDIED HERE). And our guided ballistic missiles have caused highways through the stratosphere. In short we have the capacity to re-build our whole planet, filling it with luxury -- or we are capable of destroying it totally. The shocking issue of our age is that no one can confidentially say which one we will do.... whether we will survive indeed depends on whether we build moral value as fast and extensively as we construct material things. The struggle for Civil rights is rooted in moral values. As we pursue our goals everywhere, everyone will benefit from the moral ~~awakening~~ <sup>awakening</sup> ~~movement~~ <sup>movement</sup> ~~compels~~ <sup>compels</sup>. We must all maintain faith in the future, and believe that the American dream can and will become a reality. This is my faith. I know that dark days still lie ahead. Gigantic mountains of opposition will still stand before us. We will encounter new setbacks, and some will still have to suffer persecution. But Valley Forge was followed by Yorktown. The ~~persecution~~ <sup>persecution</sup> persecution of Christians in ancient Rome was efficient and thorough, and yet it resulted in total failure.

PICK UP CONCLUSION



CONCLUSION  
 Martin Luther King  
 EP Dinner / NYC  
 September 12

*There is something in this universe that justifies Carlisle in saying, "No lie  
 can live forever."*

There is something in this universe that justifies William Cullen Bryant saying, "Truth crushed to earth will rise again." This is the faith that will carry us on. And with this faith we will be able to adjourn the councils of despair, and bring new light into the dark chambers of ~~despair~~ pessimism. We will be able to transform the jangling discords of our nation into a beautiful symphony of brotherhood. This is the faith that will help us solve the problem. We have a long, long way to go before it is solved. But all of us can at least think of the fact that we have made some strides.

And so I close by quoting the words of an old Negro slave preacher who didn't quite have his grammar right but uttered words of great solemn profundity, in the form of a prayer:

"Lord, we ain't what we oughta be. We ain't what we want to be. We ain't what we goin' to be. But, thank God, we ain't what we wuz."